ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

RECEIVED

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

AUG 09 2019

SYLVESTER KEEJUAN KING,

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002278

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred by ruling defense counsel had no duty to object to the improper jury charge that the jury abides by its oath when it returns a verdict that “speaks the truth,” since this Court has repeatedly, including in State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000), warned trial court’s to avoid “seeking the truth” language because it can be interpreted as lessening the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof, a Due process violation, and the PCR court’s conclusion that defense counsel had no duty to object to an invalid jury instruction was an untenable error of law?

STATEMENT

Procedural history

Petitioner was indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 579-580. His case was called to trial on November 30, 2015 before the Honorable Victor C. Pyle, Jr. and a jury. Alex Kornfeld represented petitioner. Judith Munson and Brittany Scott were the assistant solicitors. App. 1.

On December 2, 2015 the jury found petitioner guilty on both counts. App. 418, ll. 4-12. Judge Pyle sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment for murder, and five years imprisonment for possession of a weapon during a violent crime. App. 423, ll. 11-20.

Petitioner's convictions were affirmed on direct appeal in State v. Sylvester Kejuan King, 2018-UP-195 (filed May 9, 2018). App. 425 – 427. Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on May 24, 2018, in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. App. 428 – 437. The state filed a return to this petition dated September 4, 2018. App. 438 – 472.

Petitioner, through PCR counsel Susannah Ross, filed a supplemental application for post-conviction relief dated October 11, 2018. App. 473 – 475. The post-conviction relief hearing was held on October 24, 2018, before the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr. Susannah Ross represented petitioner. Deshawn Mitchell represented the state. App. 476 – 573.

An order of dismissal dated November 5, 2018, was issued. App. 538 – 574. A motion to alter or amend the judgement dated November 16, 2018, was filed. App. 575 – 576. An order denying the motion to alter or amend the judgement dated December 14, 2018, was then issued. App. 577 – 578.

Relevant facts

The decedent's minor son, sixteen or seventeen-year-old Raquan Lewers, became an instant suspect in his mother's murder. Lewers told the police he was home with his mother on the night of March 16, 2014, and that she was asleep. Lewers offered that his girlfriend, Quianna Fernandez, and her friend, Shakia Prease, came to his house that night. They did not come inside, they waited in the car, and Lewers left with them for what he maintained was only about ten to fifteen minutes. App. 104, l. 2 – 111, l. 18.

When he returned a short time later, everything seemed normal. However, when Lewers reentered the house he found his mother had been fatally and brutally stabbed. The house was a bloody mess. Lewers went outside and told Fernandez and Prease that his mother was dead. They thought by his demeanor that Lewers was “playing” or “joking.” App. 85, l. 6 – 86, l. 4.

The minor Lewers had received a financial settlement from UPS because one of their trucks apparently hit him. The settlement money was being held in trust for him by his mother until he “reached the age of majority.” Tr. 119, l. 11 - 120, l. 15. As will be seen infra, Lewers tried to impress others on Facebook with his alleged access to money and cars.

The trial

Fernandez, his girlfriend was nineteen-years-old. As stated, she brought her friend, Prease, over to the home where Lewers lived with his mother that March 16, 2014 night. They stayed in the car, and did not go into the house. They drove with petitioner to the Citgo station to buy cigars to use as blunts. Fernandez then took petitioner by the Greenville Arms apartment complex so he could sell marijuana to a “Hispanic man” there. Again, all of this allegedly happened in about ten minutes to fifteen minutes before they returned to his mother's house. App. 104, l. 2 – 111, l. 18.

When they got back to his house, Lewers went inside. He saw “blood all over the door. I started calling my mom’s name. I got scared. I thought it might have been [some juice] or something. I followed it into her room. I didn’t know what to do. From there, I really don’t remember half of the stuff that happened . . . [I] tried to shake her. I tried to wake her but she wouldn’t [move].” She had been stabbed to death. App. 105, l. 24 - 106, l. 17.

Lewers had been incarcerated until about three weeks before the murder for armed robbery and simple possession of drugs. He was in drug court at the time his mother was murdered. Lewers admitted selling marijuana that night but he claimed he did not smoke marijuana or use drugs because “I was in drug court.” App. 97, ll. 8-23. App. 105, l. 10 - 106, l. 5.

Lewers testified that petitioner was his mother’s *prior boyfriend*, and Lewers admitted he liked petitioner a lot. He had known him since he was eleven-years-old. Lewers said petitioner was like a “step-daddy” to him. While his mother did not want to interfere with his relationship with petitioner, his mother no longer wished to see petitioner, according to Lewers. In fact, Lewers maintained that his mother did not even want petitioner to know where they lived. App. 93, l. 14 - 100, l. 1.

On cross-examination, Lewers denied he was a member of a gang. He maintained that the initials “PSC” stood for “Pinckney Street Child,” and not “Pickney Street Crypts.” Lewers confirmed he had been out of jail for about three weeks at the time his mother was murdered. App. 116, l. 2 – 117, l. 2.

Ms. Fernandez, the girlfriend, was nineteen years old at the time of the murder. She said Lewers was only sixteen-years-old. She recalled on the evening of October 16, 2014 that she went over to the house where petitioner and his mother lived. Petitioner agreed to take Fernandez’s

phone inside to charge it while Fernandez and her friend, Prease, waited outside in the car. App. 73, 1. 5 – 74, 1. 5.

Fernandez drove them to the Citgo station, and then she took petitioner to the Greenville Arms Apartment complex to sell marijuana. Fernandez remembered petitioner selling the marijuana to a Hispanic man. App. 73, 1. 5 - 76, 1. 20.

Fernandez said that when Lewers discovered his mother's body stabbed to death inside the house that they both called 911. Fernandez denied that Lewers called his grandmother first, and then 911. App. 76, 1. 3 - 77, 1. 1.

Fernandez's friend, Ms. Prease, remembered after they took the trip to the apartment complex so Lewers could sell marijuana that she and Fernandez again waited outside in the car while Lewers went inside. Prease recalled Lewers came outside and told them: "My mom is dead." "We thought he was playing. He was, like, he wasn't kidding. We got out and followed behind him . . . when we first walked in it was blood immediately. When you first walked in the door, it was a trail of blood it was blood all on the wall." App. 85, 1. 6 – 86, 1. 4.

Investigator Michael Fortner testified he naturally considered Lewers to be a suspect.

Fortner explained:

[T]he main reason why we, of course initially started feeling that he may have been our suspect was his story was that he told us that when he called his friends, *his friends come over and then he goes out to them instead of them coming in to him.* Then, they leave. At that time, they were saying maybe 10 *minutes or so they were gone.* *In that short amount of time, they get back and they find his mom in the condition that he found her in.* I was suspicious of that. It was a short time frame for something like that to happen."

App. 246, 1. 17 - 247, 1. 2. (emphasis added).

Petitioner 's whereabouts

Petitioner 's present girlfriend, Shelia Martin, had been dating petitioner for about one year at this time in March, 2014. She was living in Anderson, South Carolina. Petitioner would stay over at her house in Anderson at times, but he did not have a key to her house. App. 132, l. 10 – 133, l. 23.

Shelia remembered on March 16, 2014 that she telephoned petitioner earlier in the day because she was in Greenville. Petitioner told her he would come over to her house later in the day. App. 137, l. 23 - 138, l. 22.

Shelia testified that petitioner came to her house at about 2:00 in the morning. Petitioner was acting normally. However, he then went into her bedroom and lay face down on the floor. She asked petitioner “what was wrong?” Petitioner told her that he had “been in a fight.” Shelia noticed that petitioner 's hand was bandaged underneath his shirt, and that he had a deep cut on his wrist. He was bleeding profusely. Shelia said petitioner told her he and his cousin had gotten into a fight with four other men at a liquor house “just off Whitehorse Road.” Shelia, who had nursing training, then helped petitioner re-bandage his hand to put pressure on the wound. App. 139, l. 2 - 141, l. 23.

Shelia “took him to the emergency room” in Anderson County. Shelia had let petitioner drive her black Mazda that day, and she said petitioner told her: “He messed up my car . . . he said he had blood all in my front seat.” App. 141, l. 13 - 143, l. 11.

Shelia identified the emergency room security camera which showed them entering early on the morning of March 17, 2014. Shelia remembered that petitioner was calm, and the nurses and doctor in the emergency room were able to re-bandage his hand more effectively. Petitioner was discharged with” pain medication and instructions to keep the bandage clean,” and “he came back

the next day for surgery.” Petitioner, Sheila said, also told the ER personnel about the fight at the liquor house. App. 144, l. 13 – 147, l. 24.

Investigator Michael Fortner also testified that at some point during the investigation petitioner told him the decedent had taken him over to her house that March 16, 2014 evening. While they were lying in bed an intruder entered and said: “Oh, hell no; and, at that time, produced a knife and started attacking them with a knife . . . and that’s how he says he got cut, during the course of the fight with the individual.” App. 260, ll. 2-20.

Shelia acknowledged she was later contacted by the Anderson Police Department. She said petitioner wanted nothing at all to do with the police. Shelia remembered returning to her house one day to see several police cars. Petitioner happened to be with her. Petitioner told her, as she was driving, to just let him out of the automobile down the road from her house. She slowed down, and petitioner got out of the car. App. 152, l. 5 – 153, l. 19.

Law enforcement testimony

Greenville investigator Shawnee Peoples testified that petitioner’s name came up during the stabbing death murder investigation of the decedent in this case. Peoples was working in a different division than homicide at the time but she said *she tried to listen to what the homicide investigators were talking about in the case*. Peoples said she heard that petitioner had called into work “and he told his job that he was a victim of a home invasion where he was injured.” Defense counsel immediately objected to this testimony on the ground of a lack of foundation, and the judge immediately overruled the objection. App. 207, l. 20 – 208, l. 7. This issue was raised on direct appeal as a hearsay issue, and it was procedurally barred by the Court of Appeals. App. 425-427.

Peoples said that as soon as she heard petitioner had allegedly called his place of business and said he had been a victim -- and that he was injured -- she started checking all of the local

hospitals for leads. App. 208, l. 1 - 209, l. 12. Peeples also testified she was able to view footage of petitioner entering the Anderson emergency room, and she drove to “Anderson and I obtained that information.” App. 208, l. 10 - 209, l. 16.

Greenville County Sheriff’s Deputy Ronald Suber responded to a call that an individual had been found dead inside the decedent’s home. Suber remembered knocking on the door and that Lewers eventually answered the door. Lewers had two young women with him at the time. Lewers told Suber that he was the son of the murdered decedent. App. 303, l. 3 – 304, l. 20.

The solicitor then told the judge she was going to ask Suber a question. She maintained Suber’s answer was admissible as an excited utterance. Defense counsel immediately objected and stated the statement the solicitor wished to elicit was not an excited utterance. Defense counsel also reminded the judge that Lewers had testified earlier (meaning the alleged statement to Suber, that was the subject of the objection, was not elicited from Lewers). The judge quickly ruled that he was going to allow this testimony over the defense objection. App. 304, l. 17 – 305, l. 6.

Suber said Lewers: “[k]ept saying that he believed his mother’s boyfriend had done it because he kept saying they [his mother and Lewers] were hiding from him [petitioner].” Suber said Lewers then told him that Sylvester King was his mother’s boyfriend. App. 306, ll. 8-20.

This was technically incorrect since his mother had a new boyfriend but the context of Lewers pointing the finger at petitioner as Suber investigated because of Lewers’ alleged belief that petitioner was the murderer was inescapable.

The pathologist, Dr. Michael Ward, testified that an autopsy was performed on the decedent on March 17, 2014. She died of stab wounds to the head and neck. App. 319, ll. 4-8; app. 331, ll. 15-17. The state also presented evidence that the decedent’s blood and petitioner’s blood were found inside her house. App. 226, l. 7 – 228, l. 13. There was also evidence that a third person’s

DNA was also found on the sole of a shoe. App. 235, ll. 4-19. None of petitioner's DNA was found in the bedroom where the decedent's body was discovered. App. 235, l. 9 – 236, l. 15.

Jury charge

After charging the jury on determining the credibility of the witnesses, the judge charged the jury on the burden of proof. App. 409, l. 22 – 412, l. 15. The judge concluded by instructing the jury that “the word verdict, Ladies and Gentleman, is taken from the Latin word ‘veredicto.’ *It means to speak the truth.* You have no friends to reward or enemies to punish in this case. *I charge you to abide by your oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth.*” App. 413, ll. 14-20. (emphasis added). Defense counsel did not take exception to this instruction. App. 414, l. 23 – 414, l. 3.

The PCR issue

Petitioner testified during his PCR hearing that he was aware that at the end of the trial the judge instructed the jury to “abide by your oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth.” App. 495, ll. 5-9. Defense counsel did not object or take exception to the “verdict that “speaks the truth” instruction. App. 495, ll. 5-25.

Defense counsel Alex Kornfeld testified he was aware the trial judge charged the jury to return a verdict “that speaks the truth.” Kornfeld testified, “*I probably should have objected to that, you know. That’s not really -- it’s beyond a reasonable doubt not necessarily the truth on that. But, yeah, sure.*” App. 519, ll. 15-23. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination by PCR counsel Ross, Kornfeld did not seem as sure that he deficiently failed to take exception to the “speaks the truth verdict” instruction. Counsel now testified he did not think at the time of petitioner’s trial that the “verdict that speaks the truth” jury

instruction was disfavored. “I am familiar with it now. But I don’t know if, at that time, I knew about the -- you know, the speak the truth issues.” App. 527, ll. 20-25.

On redirect examination by the assistant attorney general, defense counsel maintained the judge correctly charged the jury on the burden of proof. “I guess what I would call standard charges, beyond a reasonable doubt, burden of proof, all those charges.” App. 529, l. 10 – 530, l. 3. Kornfeld said he thought the jury instruction “as a whole” was correct. App. 530, ll. 1-3.

PCR counsel Ross then argued that the jury instruction on the jury seeking the truth was disfavored, given State v. Aleksey, this Court’s decision which was issued in 2000. App. 531, ll. 1-11. “The jury should not seek anything, but, certainly, not seek the truth. It’s burden shifting. The state has the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. An instruction to seek the truth changes that burden, lessens that burden for the state, and was especially harmful for Mr. King’s case.” App. 531, ll. 1-11.

The assistant attorney general conceded, “There’s no question that in terms of the verdict speaking the truth [instruction] is disfavored by the court.” He then claimed, however, that the error in giving the jury instruction was harmless. App. 532, l. 18 – 533, l. 8.

The PCR judge reasoned “going forward, the judges have modified the instruction to the jury as it relates to seeking the truth.” The judge ruled that the “verdict speaking the truth” instruction in this case “did not violate the defendant’s due process rights. . .” App. 534, l. 11 – 535, l. 1.

In the written order of dismissal, the judge noted the trial judge’s instruction: “I charge you to abide by your oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth . . . Trial counsel testified he should have objected to the trial judge’s instruction about returning a verdict that speaks the truth but he believed the judge ultimately articulated the burden of proof properly.” On this issue, our state

Supreme Court has cautioned, “[j]ury instructions on **reasonable doubt** which charge the jury to ‘seek the truth’ are disfavored because they ‘[run] the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to the defendant’” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (emphasis added by the court).

However, the order state, “[t]he Aleksey court went on to hold that because the ‘truth-seeking’ instruction that was given in that case was ‘given in the context of the jury role in determining the credibility of the witnesses’ there was ‘not a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the challenged instruction in a manner inconsistent with a burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.’ Id. at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252. The Court cautioned the circuit courts to abandon the truth-seeking language in future charges, but held the instruction as a whole in that case was a correct statement of law and found no basis for reversal on that ground. Id.”

Importantly, the PCR judge then wrote, “This Court finds that the jury instruction applicant alleged [does] not form the basis for the grant of post-conviction relief. *The limited nature of this phrase imparted no duty upon counsel to object in light of the Aleksey decision, which existed at the time of trial, and the failure to object to this limited phrase did not [render] trial counsel’s performance deficient.* Further, the lack of objection to the charges excerpted above did not prejudice applicant because the trial court’s issuance of any language pertaining to the jury’s role at trial did not address the burden of proof the jury was to apply to its deliberations. The relevant case law makes it clear the instruction did not prejudice applicant because it spoke only generally to the jury’s role as the factfinder. The instruction *was not anywhere near the burden of proof instruction* and did nothing to shift the burden from the state. There is no reasonable possibility of a different outcome had counsel made an objection to the instruction.” App. 565 – 566. (emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred by ruling defense counsel had no duty to object to the improper jury charge that the jury abides by its oath when it returns a verdict that “speaks the truth,” since this Court has repeatedly, including in State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000), warned trial court’s to avoid “seeking the truth” language because it can be interpreted as lessening the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof, a Due process violation, and the PCR court’s conclusion that defense counsel had no duty to object to an invalid jury instruction was an untenable error of law.

The jury instruction in this case that the jury should “abide by their oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth” could not have possibly further emphasized the “speaks the truth verdict error than it did in this case. The PCR court erred by ruling “the instruction “*was not anywhere near the burden of proof instruction.*” Indeed, after the burden of proof instruction, and at the end of his instructions, the judge instructed, “Under the oath that you took in this case, you swore to try this case based solely on the testimony and evidence presented in this courtroom. I charge you that it is your duty to lay aside all outside opinions, bias or prejudice or sympathy you may have in reaching your verdict. The word verdict, ladies and gentlemen, is taken from the Latin word ‘verdicto’. *It means to speak the truth.* You have no friends to reward or enemies to punish in this case. *I charge you to abide by your oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth.*” App. 413, ll. 8-20 (emphasis added).

Thus, the jury charge ended with the jury being told that abiding by its oath meant returning a verdict that speaks the truth. Therefore, the PCR court erred by finding the timing of the jury instruction, such as in Aleksey, which came during the charge on the credibility of the witness, was a reason to discount the seriousness of the disfavored instruction error.

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