STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002278

RECEIVED

NOV 22 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

SYLVESTER KEEJUAN KING,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found that trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in failing to object to the trial court's instruction that the jury should render a verdict that "speaks the truth" because the instruction was not given so as to modify the charges on reasonable doubt or the burden of proof, Petitioner failed to demonstrate that the jury interpreted the instruction as an admonition to remove the burden of proof from the State, and Petitioner failed to demonstrate that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of trial would have been different had trial counsel objected.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's instruction that the jury was to render a verdict that "speaks the truth" because the instruction shifted the burden from the State and diluted the reasonable doubt charge and the evidence against Petitioner at trial was not overwhelming. The PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that trial counsel's failure to object to the instruction did not constitute deficient performance, Petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice because the instruction did not address the burden of proof, and there was not a reasonable probability of a different outcome had trial counsel objected. App. 565-66. The PCR court properly decided this issue, as Petitioner's argument trial counsel's performance was deficient fails because the trial court's instruction that the jury should render a verdict that "speaks the truth" was not part of the charges on reasonable doubt or the burden of proof, and Petitioner has failed to show that there is a reasonable probability that the trial would have gone differently had trial counsel objected to the language.

Petitioner has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR action, and when alleging that trial counsel was constitutionally

ineffective, he must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that Counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, Counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the PCR applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that

counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 697.

A. The PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not deficient because the trial court used the language while charging the jury to limit its deliberation to the evidence admitted at trial, and not with the reasonable doubt or burden of proof charges.

Petitioner argues that the PCR court improperly found that the position of the instruction that the jury should render a verdict that speaks the truth within the charges as a whole discounted the seriousness of the instruction. The PCR properly found that the placement of the instruction did not shift the burden of proof from the State to Petitioner. In State v. Alesky, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000), the trial court gave sufficient instructions on reasonable doubt, the presumption of Alesky’s innocence, and the State’s burden of proof, and then instructed the jury regarding its role as the factfinder as follows:

Obviously you do not determine the truth or falsity of a matter by counting up on the number of witnesses who may have testified on one side or the other.

Ladies and gentlemen, throughout this entire process, you have but one single objective, and that is to seek the truth, to seek the truth regardless of from what source that truth may be derived.

Now, all of these things, ladies and gentlemen, you will consider, bearing in mind that you must give the defendant the benefit of every reasonable doubt.

Id. at 26, 538 S.E.2d at 251.

This Court noted that it had urged trial courts to avoid instructing the jury to “seek” in charging jurors on circumstantial evidence or reasonable doubt, and then found that the instruction, which was an instruction on juror credibility and not reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence, properly conveyed the law and did not create a reasonable probability that the instruction caused the jury to convict Alesky on less than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 27-29, 538 S.E.2d

at 252-53. This Court approvingly cited United States v. Gonzalez-Balderas, 11 F.3d 1218 (5th Cir. 1994), in determining that there was not a reasonable likelihood that the trial court's instruction lessened the state's burden of proof, noting that the instruction was given in the context of witness credibility, and was prefaced by a sufficient instruction on reasonable doubt and followed by an instruction about the State's heavy burden of proof. Id.

In the present case, after instructing the jury that Petitioner enjoyed the presumption of innocence that could only be overcome if the State presented evidence of Petitioner's guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Ladies and Gentlemen, if, from the evidence in this case, you have a reasonable doubt about whether or not this defendant was guilty as charged in this indictment, it is, as I told you, your duty to acquit. Under the oath that you took in this case, you swore to try this case based solely on the testimony and evidence presented in this courtroom. I charge you that it is your duty to lay aside all outside opinions, bias or prejudice or sympathy you may have in reaching your verdict. The word verdict, Ladies and Gentlemen, is taken from the Latin word "veredicto". It means to speak the truth. You have no friends to reward or enemies to punish in this case. I charge you to abide by your oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth.

App. 411-13.

The trial court's instruction is an exhortation that the jury render its verdict upon the evidence presented at trial, and not in reliance upon improper prejudice. The court informed the jury that it would be its duty to acquit if it has a reasonable doubt about Petitioner's guilt. App. 413. The court instructed the jury that its oath bound it to make its decision upon the evidence presented, and not "outside opinions, bias or prejudice or sympathy" App. 413. The court then charged the jury "to abide by [its] oath and return a verdict that speaks the truth." App. 413. When these sentences are taken together, along with the jury charge as a whole, the trial court's instruction that the jury should render a verdict that "speaks the truth" is better understood as an instruction

that the jury had to abide by its oath in returning such a verdict by making its decision upon the evidence before it and not improper grounds, like the bias and prejudice articulated by the court a few breaths earlier. Whereas in Alesky, the trial court had given its “seek” instruction in the context of witness credibility, the trial court here used the “seek” language while exhorting the jury to case aside improper considerations and to focus only upon the evidence admitted at trial. Petitioner takes issue with the PCR court’s emphasis upon the position of the “seek” instruction within the context or the surrounding charges, but the PCR court was following the pattern of this Court in analyzing the meaning of the instruction and its affect upon the other charges given. See Aleskey, at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252 (noting the context in which the trial court had given its “seek” instruction).

The PCR court properly found that trial court’s instruction was not objectionable under Aleskey, and Petitioner has failed to show that the instruction concerned the burden of proof or reasonable doubt charges.

B. Petitioner failed to demonstrate the instruction affected the outcome of trial.

The PCR court found that the instruction was not prejudicial because it spoke generally to the jury’s role as the factfinder. App. 565-66. Petitioner argues that the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel’s failure to object to the instruction because, according to Petitioner, the evidence of guilt “was not so overwhelming. . . .”

In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court cited State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018), in which this Court held that Beaty had failed to demonstrate prejudice from the trial court’s preliminary instructions to the jury that it was to search for the truth, determine which

facts were true, and render a true and just verdict. While giving his preliminary remarks, the trial court in Beaty stated:

This trial is a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done. Searching for the truth and ensuring that justice is done is often slow, deliberate, and repetitive.

The attorneys are sworn to uphold the integrity and the fairness of our judicial system and to help you as jurors to search for the truth.

You also just took an oath to listen to the evidence in this case and reach a fair and just verdict and you are expected to be professional, reasonable and ethical.

You the jurors find the facts from the testimony from a witness from the witness stand or any other evidence, and after hearing that evidence you will deliberate and render a true and just verdict under the solemn oath that you just took as jurors.

In determining what the true facts are in this case you must decide whether or not the testimony of a witness is believable.

After argument of counsel and the charge on the law by me, you will then be in a position to determine what the true facts are and apply those facts to the law and thus render a true and just verdict.

Id. at 32-33, 813 S.E.2d at 505.

Beaty argued that the trial court's remarks were improper because the State had supposedly misstated the nature of circumstantial evidence and reasonable doubt in its opening statement and then informed the jury that it would have to select between competing theories in its deliberations. Id. at 33, 813 S.E.2d at 505.

The trial court's instruction in this case had less potential for affecting the outcome of Petitioner's trial than did the instruction given in Beaty. The trial court in Beaty used the disfavored language in one form or another in each of the seven sentences quoted above. Further, Beaty argued that the damage done by the language used by the trial court was heightened by the

State's alleged misstatement when explaining circumstantial evidence and reasonable doubt to the jury. Id. In this case, the trial court used the disfavored language in only three sentences.

The trial court did not instruct the jury that it was a seeker of truth or that it was to discover true facts. The court's instruction was tied with the court's instruction that the jury was to impartially consider the evidence presented at trial. App. 413. Immediately before giving the relevant instruction, the trial court cautioned the jury that its duty was to consider only the evidence at trial without bias. In between the two relevant sentences, the trial court again warned the jury against taking sides in its deliberations. The court's exhortation that the jury should adhere to its oath in rendering a verdict was a callback to its previous charge that the jury's oath bound it to consider only the evidence admitted at trial. Petitioner has failed to show that there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury understood the trial court's instruction that they were to render a verdict that speaks the truth as an admonition for them to remove the State's burden of proving Petitioner's guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. See Aleskey, at 28-29, 583 S.E.2d at 252 (approving of the reasoning of the Fifth Circuit's prejudice analysis when it held that a trial court's instruction that the jury's "sole interest [was] to see the truth" did not shift the burden of proof).

The PCR court found that there was not a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial even if trial counsel had objected to the language. App. 566. Lewers, the victim's son, established that Petitioner and the victim had had a tumultuous relationship for years throughout his youth. Petitioner was with the victim at the time of her murder, confirmed both by the presence of his DNA at the victim's home, the knife wound on his hand, and his own statement to police. Martin, one of Petitioner's romantic partners, testified that he came to her home,

bleeding profusely from a knife wound, on the night of the murder. Petitioner told her that he had been attacked by some men at a liquor store, and he dramatically avoided interaction with the police while in her company. After later being arrested at the home of Mitchell, his fiancée, Petitioner explained the origin of his knife wound and the presence of his DNA at the scene of the victim's murder to police by telling them that he had been with the victim when an unidentified man forced his way into the victim's bedroom; according to Petitioner, he abandoned the victim to her attacker and fled the scene, making his way to Martin's home. Petitioner's defense at trial consisted of arguing that the victim's son and her long-estranged husband murdered her in order to gain control of Lewer's conservatorship. App. 381.

Petitioner stated at the PCR hearing that the trial court's instruction that the jury should return a verdict that "seeks the truth" was "especially harmful for [Petitioner's] case." App. 531. Petitioner, though, failed to demonstrate that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of his trial would have been different had Counsel objected to the remarks. The PCR court properly found that Petitioner failed to show prejudice.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that trial counsel was deficient in not objecting to the trial court's jury instruction because the instruction did not shift the burden of proof from the State and has failed to demonstrate prejudice in light of the limited nature of the court's instruction and the evidence against Petitioner at trial. The PCR court properly found that Counsel was not ineffective in not objecting to the jury instruction. This Court should deny the

petition for a writ of certiorari.